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Introduction by Accountable Officer 

These accounts cover the final seven month period leading up to the dissolution of Surrey and Sussex 
Probation Trust (“the Trust”) on 31 October 2014. The Trust was responsible for delivering Probation 
services in Surrey and Sussex in accordance with its contract with the Secretary of State for Justice. 
It ceased operations at the end of 31 May 2014 on the expiry of the contract. 
 
On 1 June, the National Probation Service (NPS), which is a directorate within the National Offender 
Management Service (NOMS), began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on 
sentencing and managing high risk offenders in the community, taking on certain of the staff, operational 
activity and rights and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
The Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (“the CRC”) is one of 21 new 
companies set up to deliver rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England 
and Wales. The CRC also commenced operations on 1 June, assuming responsibility for the relevant 
staff and activities transferred from the Trust. Immediately following the transfer from the Trust, the 
Secretary of State transferred certain of the Trust’s former rights and obligations to the CRC. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust 
are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the 
Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC. 
 
From 1 June, support was provided by staff who had transferred to the CRC to finalise the Trust’s Report 
and Accounts for 2013–14, maintain financial records and prepare a Trust Report and Accounts for the 
period 1 April to 31 October 2014, and to transfer to NOMS and the CRC all remaining records and 
residual rights and obligations from the Trust. The Trust’s Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, 
Leighe Rogers, continued in post until 31 May 2014. The appointments of the Trust’s Chair and the other 
Board members expired on 31 July 2014. A new Board, comprising senior NOMS and MoJ staff, was 
appointed with effect from 1 August 2014.  
 
I became the Acting Chief Executive and responsible Accountable Officer for the Trust following the 
departure of the Trust’s Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, and I take full responsibility for the 
Report and Accounts for the period to 31 October 2014. 
 
Between 1 June and 31 October, the Trust’s residual unsettled rights and obligations were transferred 
to the Secretary of State. On 31 October, the 35 Probation Trusts, including the Trust, were dissolved 
by an Order under section 5(1)(c) of the Offender Management Act 2007. This Order also gave the 
Secretary of State the responsibility for completing the Trust’s final Report and Accounts. The Report 
and Accounts were reviewed and approved by the Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group (a sub-
Committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board) on 19 January 2015 and 
NOMS Audit Committee on 9 February 2015. 
 
I have received assurances from the former Accountable Officer about the controls exercised by her, the 
officers and Board of the Trust during their tenure, to ensure compliance with the principles of Managing 
Public Money and in particular in relation to governance, decision-making and financial management. 
I am content that these assurances were sufficiently accurate and robust to allow me to place reliance on 
them in discharging my role as Accountable Officer. 
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I am very grateful to all the former staff and Board Members of the Trust for their continuing hard work 
and commitment during April and May 2014. This ensured that the Trust continued to deliver high quality 
probation services throughout this period, while successfully handing over its responsibilities to the two 
successor organisations with effect from 1 June 2014. I am also grateful to the CRC, NOMS and MoJ 
staff who have undertaken the subsequent work to close down the Trust, complete the transfer of 
residual assets and liabilities, and contribute to this final Report and Accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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1. Strategic Report 

This is the final Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust Annual Report and Accounts prior to the Trust being 
dissolved on 31 October 2014 under The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation 
Trusts) Order 2014. 
 

Leadership 

Management of change 
This was a period of major change for the Trust. The Government’s proposals, ‘Transforming 
Rehabilitation’, required the Trust to prepare for the separation of the service into a National Probation 
Service covering seven geographical areas and the creation of 21 Community Rehabilitation Companies 
(CRC). Surrey and Sussex is part of the CRC for Kent, Surrey and Sussex. The changes led to a 
separation of staff and offender caseloads, which come into full effect from 1 June 2014. 
 
In order to keep staff and stakeholders well informed about these changes, SSPT Senior Managers 
implemented a comprehensive communications strategy. 

Aiming To Be an Excellent Organisation 
The Trust held Recognised for Excellence 5* (issued by The British Quality Foundation) for six years and 
the Government Standard for Customer Service Excellence, awarded by the Cabinet Office, for three 
years. 
 

Policy and Strategy 

Service User Engagement 
The Trust continued the process of effective offender engagement by continuing the work of the service 
user engagement group including the continued deployment of a holistic framework for quality assurance 
we developed locally. 

Diversity 
The Trust was firmly committed to providing equal opportunities for all existing and prospective 
employees, casual staff, volunteers and service users. They created an environment in which there was 
respect for every individual and recognition of their aspirations, regardless of issues such as race, 
colour, ethnic or national origins, citizenship, religion or political belief, class, gender, HIV status, 
relationship or family status, dependants, sexual orientation, disability, age, trade union membership, 
employment status and non relevant previous convictions. 
 
The Surrey and Sussex Liaison and Diversion Scheme, which aimed to successfully divert offenders 
away from the criminal justice system where appropriate, continued to go from strength to strength. 
It was successful in getting offenders speedy access to treatment and the Trust was a major player in 
making it a success. The Trust’s work with women offenders, in partnership with Inspire in Sussex and 
with the Woking Women’s Centre in Surrey, also continued to have a positive impact on the lives of 
female offenders. 
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People Management 

Investing in Quality – Continuous Professional Development 
The Trust continued to provide a full range of comprehensive core training and development for 
operational and support service staff. 
 
Events associated with Supporting Change in light of the Transforming Rehabilitation (TR) Agenda have 
continued to be available for all staff to access. These included CV and Interview Skills Workshops, a 
Supporting Change seminar and a Developing Emotional Resilience Workshop. TR Briefings were 
arranged for all operational areas and were mandatory for the majority of operational staff groups. 
Managers were also given access to professional coaching to support them personally and professionally 
in readiness for decisions and pressures ahead from external influences and from within teams. 

Achieving Low Levels of Absence 
The Trust continued to promote positive health initiatives such as free health screenings and flu jabs to 
all staff. The events described above were also designed to support staff in the changing landscape, with 
the intention of reducing staff absences. 

Internal and External Communication 
All internal and external communications during this period were designed to support understanding of 
the changes being brought about by the TR process. 
 

Partnerships, Resources and Targets 

Delivering Services in Partnership 
The Trust continued to work in Partnership with all of its partners, such as the police, local authorities 
voluntary and independent sector organisations to deliver excellent results through integrated offender 
management, public protection and mental health schemes; to promote the re-integration of offenders 
into their communities and to deliver services in respect of accommodation, education, training and 
employment, alcohol and drugs. All of this activity was central to reducing levels of re-offending and the 
rehabilitation of offenders into society. 
 
The Trust continued to work with police, the prison service and a range of others to manage the Multi-
Agency Public Protection Arrangements. These are the statutory arrangements for the relatively small 
number of offenders who pose a potential risk to others. 

Commissioning Services 
The Trust’s Local Delivery Unit structure empowered local managers to work more closely with partners 
to identify opportunities for joint commissioning to meet the local needs of offenders. They had a middle 
manager linked to each Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership. This approach promoted value for 
money and efficient targeting of resources through joint working. 

Performance Targets 
Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust’s performance targets were agreed by the National Offender 
Management Service (NOMS) Director of Probation and are fully documented in the Trust’s Contract. 
 
The Trust was in operation during April and May of 2014. The tables below outline the operational 
targets that were set at the beginning of the period and show the Trust’s performance against those 
targets. 
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Results 

Customer Results 
 

Ref 
Description of Performance Target or Performance 
Measure 

National Target 
2014–15 

Performance
2014–15

OM07 The percentage of victims who are contacted within eight 
weeks of an offender receiving 12 months or more for a 
serious sexual or violent offence, or a relevant hospital order 

90% 42%

INT09 The percentage of offenders in employment at termination of 
their order or licence to be at least X% 

50% 55%

INT08 The number of offenders under supervision who find and 
sustain employment to be at least X 

Annual Target 
500 

N/A

 

People Results 
 

Ref 
Description of Performance Target or Performance 
Measure 

National Target 
2014–15 

Performance
2014–15

IPPF08 Average days lost due to sickness per employee per annum Annual Target 
10 

Two Months
8.6

IPPF14 Ethnic minority staff for the NOMS Agency, expressed as a 
proportion of the workforce who have declared their ethnicity, 
is at least X% 

N/A 13%

 

Society Results 
 

Ref 
Description of Performance Target or Performance 
Measure 

National Target 
2014–15 

Performance
2014–15

  Hours worked by offenders during the year  N/A 33,039

 

Key Performance Results 
 

Ref 
Description of Performance Target or Performance 
Measure 

National Target 
2014–15 

Performance
2014–15

OM21 Reduce the rate of proven reoffending whilst under the 
management of provider of probation services 

No Significant 
Reduction 

Data due
February 2015

 

Ref Public Protection 
National Target 

2014–15 
Performance

2014–15

OM04 X% of licence recall requests to reach NOMS Public 
Protection Casework Section (PPCS) within 24 hours of the 
decision by the Offender Manager 

90% 99%

OM27 Generic Parole Process – PAROM1 Return timeliness 80% 79%

OM32 Victim Feedback 90% 100%

OM26 OASys quality audit 90% Data due 
December 2014
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Ref Re-offending 
National Target 

2014–15 
Performance

2014–15

OM20 The proportion of orders and licences successfully completed 75% 81 %

OM29 Offender Feedback – % of offenders with overall positive 
experiences of engagement 

67% Data due
March 2015

OM39 At least X% of OASys final reviews (terminations) to be 
completed within the appropriate timescales for all Tier 2, 3, 4 
and PPO offenders  

90% 75%

OM17 At least X% of offenders in settled and suitable 
accommodation at the end of their order or licence 

70% 79%

OM40 The percentage of PSRs completed within the timescales set 
by the court 

95% 65%

OM05 The percentage of cases in which initiation of breach 
proceedings took place within 10 working days of the relevant 
unacceptable failure to comply 

90% 98%

 

Ref Sentence Delivery 
National Target 

2014–15 
Performance

2014–15

INT01 The number of accredited sex offender programme 
completions to be at least X 

Annual Target 
52 

Two Months
16

INT13 The percentage of accredited sex offender treatment 
programmes to be successfully completed 

80% 92%

INT02 The number of accredited domestic violence programme 
completions to be at least X 

Annual Target 
150 

Two Months
34

INT14 The percentage of accredited domestic violence programmes 
to be successfully completed 

67% 79%

INT03 The number of accredited offending behaviour programme 
completions to be at least X (excluding sex offender and 
domestic violence) 

Annual Target 
60 

Two Months
8

INT15 The percentage of accredited offending behaviour 
programmes to be successfully completed (excluding sex 
offender and domestic violence programmes) 

65% 38%

INT07 The number of ATR completions to be at least X Annual Target 
120 

Two Months
25

INT16 ATR completion rates 50% 66%

INT06 The number of DTTO/DRR completions to be at least X Annual Target 
200 

Two Months
38

INT17 DTTO/DRR completion rates 50% 68%

INT05 The number of UPW (Community Payback) completions to be 
at least X 

Annual Target 
1,700 

Two Months
261

INT18 UPW (Community Payback) completion rates 75% 79%

INT11 The proportion of UPW (Community Payback) offenders days 
which are lost because of stand-downs on the day or notified 
in advance 

3% 5%
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Workload and Activity Statistics 2014–15 

Commencements of Orders and Sentences 
 
Order / Sentence 2014–15 2013–14 2012–13

Community Orders 501 3,675 3,866

Suspended Sentence Orders 269 1,516 1,343

Pre Release 194 949 1,101

Post Release 141 1,067 1,223

Total 1,105 7,207 7,533

Unpaid Work Only* 239 1,671 1,711

Unpaid Work & Supervision* 95 757 872

* Included in All Community Orders & Suspended Sentence Orders above 

Commencements refer to all probation court orders made during the course of the specified year apart 
from in 2014–15 when it relates to April and May only. 
 

Caseload by type of Order/Licence 
 
Order Type 31/05/2014 31/03/2014 31/03/2013

Community Orders 2,367 2,561 2,869

Suspended Sentence Orders 1,209 1,119 1,204

Pre Release 2,277 1,924 2,052

Post Release 1,277 1,210 1,185

Total 7,130 6,814 7,310

Unpaid Work Only* 834 864 1,105

Unpaid Work & Supervision* 671 779 1,014

* Included in All Community Orders & Suspended Sentence Orders above 

Caseload is a snapshot figure of current cases. 
 

Court Reports produced by type 
 
Report Type 2014–15 2013–2014 2012–2013

Standard Delivery PSR for Crown Court 26 364 701

Standard Delivery PSR for Magistrates 7* 431 947

Fast Delivery PSR 64 802 734

Oral Delivery PSR 193 2,466 3,006

Total 290 4,063 5,388

 
The volume of Standard Delivery Pre Sentence Reports (PSRs) or Youth and Other Courts is included in 
Magistrates’ Court figures. Our policy over recent years has been to increase oral reports and decrease 
the number of standard delivery reports. The 2014–15 figures are for April and May only. 

* April 2014 only 
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Community Payback (Unpaid Work) 
 
 2014–15 2013–2014 2012–2013

Hours ordered by the courts 61,905 259,099 320,258

Hours worked by offenders during the year 33,039 222,392 274,042

 
The Trust had a policy of “resource follows risk” and the reduction in unpaid hours is an element of this. 
This policy sought to minimise the number of low risk cases with which the Trust worked so that it could 
dedicate more resource to higher risk cases. To this end, the Trust invested in specialist Probation 
Officer time in Courts with a brief to intervene actively to manage demand. This was achieved at the 
pre-Court stage by screening out cases that may not require reports or supervision and at the report 
stage by targeting effectively and proposing credible alternatives for those who do not require a 
Community Order with Probation delivered requirements. 
 
The figures for 2014–15 are for April and May only. 

Victim Contact Scheme 
 
 2014–15 2013–2014 2012–2013

Number of victims contacted within 8 weeks of sentence N/A 411 472

 
Victim contact is a nationally set measure. 
 
Additional performance data will published by NOMS at the address given in the Management 
Commentary section of this report. 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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2. Management Commentary 

Statutory background 
The Probation Trust was established by Order under the Offender Management Act 2007 (OM Act) on 
1 April 2010. The Trust was a corporate body under the OM Act and a Non-Departmental Public Body 
(NDPB) which reported to the National Offender Management Service (NOMS). 
 
The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 by the Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of 
Probation Trusts) Order 2014. 
 
These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) issued by HM Treasury (HMT) and in accordance with the accounts direction, on page 56, 
issued by the Secretary of State under The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation 
Trusts) Order 2014. 

Going Concern 
The publication “Transforming Rehabilitation: A strategy for Reform” dated 9 May 2013 included plans to 
contract out certain probation services more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts. 
 
On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased operating, and their activities were taken over from 1 June 
2014 by the National Probation Service (NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation Companies 
(CRCs). 
 
The NPS was created as a new directorate within NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to manage 
the highest risk offenders in the community in England and Wales. 
 
The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary of State for Justice on behalf of the Ministry of Justice 
(MoJ). CRCs provide rehabilitation and offender management services for lower risk offenders in the 
community in England and Wales. 
 
Following a tender process for the CRCs, sale and purchase agreements were signed with successful 
bidders in December 2014, to take ownership of the CRCs with effect from 1 February 2015. Probation 
services will continue to be commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from the CRCs under this arrangement. The 
contracts will influence the operations of the CRCs.  
 
In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme (the 
Schemes) under the Offender Management Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 1 June 2014, 
transferring staff from the Trust to the Secretary of State and to the CRC, and transferring assets and 
liabilities from Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust to the Secretary of State. 
 
On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on sentencing and 
managing high risk offenders, taking on certain of the staff, operational activity and certain of the rights 
and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
Immediately following the transfer from the Trust on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred certain of 
the rights and obligations to the Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company, which 
began delivering rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales 
from 1 June. 
 
The Schemes contained provisions for their modification and for re-allocation of those assets and 
liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. The 
physical transfer of residual unsettled assets and liabilities under the Property Transfer Scheme took 
place between 1 June and the date of dissolution. A final Property Transfer Scheme, made in October 
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2014, took effect immediately prior to dissolution, transferring any remaining assets and liabilities to the 
Secretary of State. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust 
are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the 
Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC. 
 
All 35 Probation Trusts, including Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 October 
2014. 
 
As all of the Trust’s operations ceased during the period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, I have 
concluded that the Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31 October 2014. These accounts have 
therefore been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern. Further information can be found 
in Note 1.3 to the Accounts. 

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Trust between 1 April and 31 October 2014 were as follows: 
Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust covers the Surrey and Sussex police area, as defined in Schedule 1 
of the Police Act 1996, serving a population of over 2.6 million. During the period, the Trust employed, on 
average, 557 full time equivalent staff that worked from 12 main office locations, 7 prisons and 2 hostels 
across the area as well as serving Magistrate and Crown Courts. Of these staff, 36 people were 
seconded to other organisations, primarily the prisons. 
 
Each Trust is to initially provide assistance to the courts in determining the appropriate sentences to 
pass, and making other decisions in respect of persons charged with or convicted of offences, and to 
assist in the supervision and rehabilitation of such persons. 
 
The discharge of policies as established by the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), are designed to ensure: 
 the protection of the public; 
 the reduction of re-offending; 
 the proper punishment of offenders; 
 ensuring offenders’ awareness of the effects of crime on the victims of crime and the public; 
 the rehabilitation of offenders. 
 
In addition to the above activities, in this final period of activity, the Trust had an additional obligation: 
 to transfer out of all staff and activities, and most assets, liabilities, rights and obligations, on 31 May 

2014; and all residual rights, obligations, assets and liabilities, before dissolution. 

Operational Performance 
An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 9. 
Further operational performance data is published by the National Offender Management Service at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-and-probation-trusts-performance-statistics 

Results for the period 
The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SoCNE) for the period is shown on page 26. 
The Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity is shown on page 29. 

Operating costs 
The net operating cost before tax for the period stands at £316k, before the gain on transfer of assets 
and liabilities to NOMS and the CRC. 
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Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows 
The Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows are on pages 27 and 28. 
 
All assets and liabilities, including cash, were transferred to NOMS and the CRC before the Trust was 
dissolved. 

Transfers to the NOMS and Kent, Surrey and Sussex CRC 
The Probation Trust ceased trading on 31 May 2014. The operations and staff of the Trust were divided 
between NOMS and a CRC, both public sector bodies. 
 
274 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 255 FTE to NOMS on 1 June 2014. 
 
The assets and liabilities of the Trust have been split between NOMS and the CRC on a practical basis 
that reflects their future usage, services provided and the allocation of employees. Refer to Notes 1.3 
and 26 to the accounts for further details. 

Treatment of Pension Liabilities 
Past employees of the Trust, and employees who transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC, are 
covered by the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a funded defined 
benefit scheme meaning that retirement benefits are determined independently of the investments of the 
scheme, and employers are obliged to make additional contributions where assets are insufficient to 
meet retirement benefits. 
 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF). 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the Kent, Surrey 
and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company’s (CRC’s) participation in the GMPF for pension 
liabilities relating to staff that transferred to the CRC. 
 
The responsibility for funding future contributions associated with those original employees who are 
active members of the LGPS transferred with the employee to the new employer, the CRC or NOMS. 
NOMS ensures that the past service liabilities are fully funded on an ongoing basis from the date 
employees transferred to the CRC. 
 
Any increases in employer contributions, other than those made on a discretionary basis by the CRC are 
fully funded by NOMS. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities associated with the original employees who are 
deferred or pensioner members of the LGPS transferred to NOMS. 
 
Further information can be found in Note 4 to the Accounts. 

Payment of creditors 
In the period to 31 October 2014, the Trust paid 1341 trade invoices. The percentage of undisputed 
invoices paid within 30 days by the Trust was 85% compared to 89% in 2013–14. The target was 90%. 

Sickness absence data 
The average level of absence due to staff sickness was 8.6 days for the two month period across the 
Trust (2013–14: 8.1 days in the year). 

Personal data related incidents 
The Trust did not have any significant personal data related incidents in 2014–15, which needed to be 
reported formally to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 
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Mutuals 
SSPT management and staff members, together with Kent Probation Trust, have contributed to the 
development of a bid for the CRC, as a mutual to be called Co:here. As a consequence of this, ‘ethical 
walls’ were put in place to ensure there were no conflicts of interest. 
 
The new mutual organisation was intended to be a member-owned, democratically controlled mutual 
organisation. It was committed to carrying on business for the public benefit, its assets would have been 
permanently locked into serving the public benefit, and any surpluses would have been re-invested to 
improve or expand the services. 
 
The mutual was bidding for the CRC at the prime level, as part of a consortium with A4e and Bridges 
Ventures. The consortium was bidding under the name of Chalk Ventures. The mutual, together with its 
joint venture business partners, decided to withdraw from the Transforming Rehabilitation competition 
and informed the Ministry of Justice on the 9th June 2014 of this decision. 

Sustainable development 
Under the Government’s Greening Commitment, the Trust was exempted from the requirement to 
produce a sustainability report because it had fallen below the size threshold. 

Events after the reporting period 
In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the 
date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
 
As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred. 

Audit 
The Comptroller and Auditor General is appointed by statute to audit the Trust and reports on the truth 
and fairness of the financial statements and the regularity of income and expenditure. The Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General is attached to the Accounts on page 24. 
 
Total audit fees reported in the Accounts are £39,000 and are made up of: 
 £39,000 payable to the Trust’s external auditor, the National Audit Office (NAO) and 
 £nil payable to our internal auditors, the Ministry of Justice, as an arrangement was made between 

NOMS and MoJ regarding payment for the internal audit services provided during April and May. 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have taken all steps to ensure that: 
 I am aware of any relevant audit information, 
 the Auditor is aware of that information, and 
 there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware. 

The Trust Board 
The governance arrangements within the Trust for the period April 2014 to October 2014 are shown 
below on pages 19 to 23. 
 
The Chair and other members of the Board were all appointed by the Secretary of State in line with the 
Commissioner for Public Appointments “Guidance on Appointments to Public Bodies”. 
 
Details of the remuneration of the former Board are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 15 
to 17. 
 
There were no conflicting interests for individual Trust Board members. 
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Membership of the Board during the period 1 April to 31 July 2014 is set out in the table below: 
 
Position Name Date appointment ended 
Chief Executive Leighe Rogers 31 May 2014 
Chair John Steele 31 July 2014 
Member Charles Everett 31 July 2014 
Member Chris Grimes 31 July 2014 
Member John Jeffery 31 July 2014 
Member Jacqueline Pendleton 31 July 2014 
Member Stewart Neal 31 July 2014 
 
My thanks and appreciation is extended to all former members of the Board for their hard work and effort 
during this final reporting period. 
 
From 1 August, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust. From that date and until 
dissolution on 31 October, a Residuary Board was appointed comprising of staff employed by NOMS 
and the MoJ. 
 
Following dissolution of the Trust on 31 October 2014, the Residuary Board was reconstituted as the 
Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group, a sub committee of the national Offender Management 
Service Agency Board to oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State’s duty, while my appointment 
as Accountable Officer was also extended. 
 
Membership of the Residuary Board and Probation Trusts’ Legacy Governance Group is set out in the 
table below: 
 
Position Name 
Chair Colin Allars 
Acting CEO and Accountable Officer Mark Taylor 
Board member Sian Hibbs 
Board member Amy Rees 
Board member* Christine Straw 
Board member** Sally Wordsworth 
Board member*** Ian Baker 

* Until 3 January 2015 
** Until 9 January 2015 
*** From 12 January 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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3. Remuneration Report 

Appointments 
The former Chair, former Chief Executive, and other former members of the Trust Board were all 
appointed by the Secretary of State in line with the Commissioner for Public Appointments “Guidance on 
Appointments to Public Bodies”. 
 
From 1 August, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust. From that date the board 
comprised staff remunerated by NOMS and MoJ. Their names are given in the Management 
Commentary. These staff did not receive additional remuneration for work in relation to the Trust, and 
their remuneration and pensions are included within staff costs in the Annual Report and Accounts of 
NOMS and MoJ. Colin Allars is a member of NOMS Agency Board, and details of his remuneration and 
pension are given in the remuneration report within NOMS Annual Report and Accounts. 
 

A) REMUNERATION – AUDITED 
The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of the most senior 
management (i.e. former board members) of the Trust. 

Salary 
‘Salary’ includes the gross salary; overtime; and any other payment to the extent that it is subject to UK 
taxation. This report is based on accrued payments made by the Trust and thus recorded in these 
accounts. 

Chief Executive Costs 
The terms of employment of the Chief Executive are for the appointed members to determine, with the 
approval of the Secretary of State. Chief Executives are paid Performance Related Pay (PRP) in 
accordance with the contract of employment at a rate of 4%. The payment of PRP is based upon an 
assessment of performance of the Chief Executive against agreed annual objectives, undertaken by the 
Board Chair and approved by the remuneration committee. For the period 2014–15 the Chief Executive 
accrued no costs. 

Bonuses 
There were no bonus payments made to former directors and former non-executive directors  
(2013–14: £nil). 

Compensation for loss of office 
No compensation for loss of office was paid to any of the directors or senior staff members  
(2013–14: £nil). 
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Benefits in kind 
The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the employer and treated by 
HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument. 
 

 
Salary 
£000 

Bonus payments
£000 

Benefits in kind
(to nearest £100)

Pension benefits 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Former Officials 

Period 
to 31 

October 
2014 

Year to 
31 

March 
2014 

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Period 
to 31 

October 
2014 

Year to 
31 

March 
2014 

Period 
to 31 

October
2014

Year to 
31 

March 
2014

Nick Smart 
(to 31 March 2014) 

- 85–90 - - - - - 88 - 170–175

Leighe Rogers 
from 1 April to 
31 May 2014) 

10–15 
(Annualised 

65–70) 

- - - - - 3 - 10–15 -

John Steele 5–10 15–20 - - - - - - 5–10 15–20
Chris Grimes 0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5
John Jeffery 0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5
Jacqueline 
Pendleton 

0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5

Stewart Neal 0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5
Charles Everett 0–5 0–5 - - - - - - 0–5 0–5
 
Details outlined above are inclusive of cost incurred up until the cessation of their appointments as outlined in the 
Management Commentary. 

Pay Multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. Total 
remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not 
include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid former director in the Trust in the reporting period was 
£65,000 – £70,000 (2013–14: £85,000 – £90,000). This was 2.5 times the median remuneration of the 
workforce (2013–14: 3.1). The median remuneration of the workforce, remained as reported in 2013–14, 
this was £27,373. 
 
In the period to 31 October 2014, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid 
former director (2013–14: £Nil). Remuneration ranged from £15,332 to £65,000 – £70,000 (2013–14: 
£15,332 to £85,000 – £90,000). 
 
The average number of full time equivalent staff in post during the operational period 1 April to 31 May 
2014 was 521 (2013–14: 523). After 1 June, only Board members were in post. 
 

B) PENSION BENEFITS – AUDITED 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
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applies. The CETV figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement 
which the individual has transferred to the Civil Service Pension arrangements and for which the Civil 
Service Vote has received a transfer payment commensurate to the additional pension liabilities being 
assumed. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries, and do not take 
account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may 
be due when pension benefits are drawn. 

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses current market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period. 
 

 

Accrued pension at 
pension age as at 

31 October 2014 & 
related lump sum 

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in pension 
and related lump sum 

at pension age

CETV at 
31 May

2014

CETV at 
31 March 

2014 

Real 
increase/ 

(decrease) in 
CETV

Former Officials £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Leighe Rogers 20–25 

Plus lump sum 40–45 
0–2.5

Plus lump sum 0–2.5
404 379 21

 
The CETV for the departing Chief Executive has been calculated at the 31 May 2014, their date of 
departure from the Trust.  
 
Until the 31 March 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a ‘final salary’ basis at a normal retirement 
age of 65. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for service from 1 April 2008 with 
no automatic lump sum. For pensionable service up to 31 March 2008, benefits accrue at the rate of 
1/80th of pensionable salary for each year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to 3/80ths of 
final pay of every year of total membership is payable on retirement. The scheme permits employees to 
take an increase in their lump sum payment on retirement in exchange for a reduction in their future 
annual pension. 
 
With effect from 1 April 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a career average revalued earnings 
(CARE) basis. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/49th of pensionable salary for each year of service. 
Members pay contributions of between 5.5% and 12.5% of pensionable earnings. 
 
Employers pay the balance of the cost of providing benefits, after taking into account investment returns. 
 
The opening CETV as at 31 March 2014 has not been recalculated due to the short period of account. 
The closing CETV as at the Chief Executive’s departure has been calculated by our actuary. Due to the 
change in pension accrual rates in the period, the CETV figures are not directly comparable. The real 
increase in CETV is based on an assumption of 2% overall growth of the fund in the period. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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4. Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

Under the Schedule 1, paragraph 13(1)(b) of the Offender Management Act 2007, the Secretary of State 
has directed the Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust to prepare for each financial year, a statement of 
accounts detailing the resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the use of resources 
by the Trust during the year, in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The 
Accounts Direction for the final accounting period required the statement of accounts to cover the Trust’s 
final accounting period from 1 April to 31 October 2014, in line with The Offender Management Act 2007 
(Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014. The accounts are prepared on an accrual basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of its income and expenditure, changes in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the period. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State, including the relevant accounting 

and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 Make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting 

Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain material departures in the financial statements; 
and 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is no longer appropriate to do 
so. 

 
The NOMS Agency Accounting Officer appointed the Chief Executive as the Accountable Officer of the 
Trust until 31 July 2014 and NOMS’ Deputy Director of Probation Governance and Integration as the 
Acting Chief Executive Officer and Accountable Officer of the Trust from 1 August 2014. The 
responsibilities of the Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the 
public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for 
safeguarding the Trust’s assets, are set out in Managing Public Money, published by HM Treasury. 
 

18 



Period ending 31 October 2014 | Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust 

5. Governance Statement 

Introduction 
I was appointed as Accountable Officer by Michael Spurr, the NOMS Agency Accounting Officer, to 
oversee the residual responsibilities of the Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust for the period leading up 
to dissolution, and to oversee the completion of this final Report and Accounts. In this regard I was 
supported by a Residuary Board, the NOMS Audit and Risk committee, and NOMS and CRC staff. 
 
This statement sets out a summary of the Trust’s governance framework, its risk management strategy 
and the arrangements in place which assured me of an effectively designed control environment. This 
allowed the Trust to deliver probation services efficiently and effectively, and to ensure the successful 
transition of services to the Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and the 
National Probation Service (NPS), a directorate of the National Offender Management Service (NOMS). 

Governance Framework 
The governance framework comprises the behaviours, values, systems and processes, by which the 
Probation Trust was directed and controlled and through which it accounted to the Secretary of State 
and engaged with, and discharged its responsibilities to other elements of the criminal justice system, 
the public, stakeholders and partners. 
 
A framework for the implementation of good governance allowed the Trust to be clear about its approach 
to discharging its responsibilities and to promote this internally, to officers and members and externally to 
partners, stakeholders and residents. The governance framework was designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The governance framework was based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. 
 
From 1 April to 31 July 2014 
The governance of the Trust was overseen by the Trust Board throughout the period of operation from 
1 April 2014 until 31 May 2014. Following the cessation of the Trust’s operations on the expiry of the 
Trust’s contract to deliver probation services at the end of 31 May 2014, this governance structure 
remained in place until 31 July 2014 in order to ensure a safe and well-managed transfer of the Trust’s 
service delivery and employer responsibilities to NOMS and the CRC. 
 
Throughout this period, the Trust Board had seven appointed members, including the Chair, John Steele. 
My predecessor Leighe Rogers as Chief Executive was also a member of the Trust Board. The Board met 
on three occasions to discuss and oversee all matters of strategic and operational significance as well as 
ensuring that the Trust’s plans and objectives were aligned to Ministerial priorities and that the affairs of the 
Trust were conducted in accordance with the Code of Practice and Conduct for Probation Trust Chairs and 
Members, the Probation Trust Governance Handbook, and Managing Public Money. 
 
The Board was supported by the following committees: Audit, Health and Safety and Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees. 
 
The Trust’s Audit Committee comprised three Board members and met on three occasions in this period 
to review internal and external audit reports and action plans and also to review the organisation’s risk 
register and the annual financial statements.  
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The Trust’s Health and Safety Committee consisted of five members from the employees’ side 
(a minimum of two NAPO and two UNISON appointed safety representatives) and five members from 
the employer’s side including two members of the Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust Board, the SSPT 
Health and Safety Adviser and a Human Resources Director.  
 
The Trust’s Remuneration & Nominations Committee’s purpose was to act on behalf of the Board as the 
employer of the Chief Executive and, as appropriate, members of the senior management. The 
Committee consists of three non-executive Board members including the Board Chair. Appointments to 
the Committee were made annually.  
 
From 1 August to 31 October 2014 
The Secretary of State for Justice appointed a Residuary Board, comprised of senior officials from 
NOMS and Ministry of Justice, with effect from 1 August 2014. I was appointed as Acting Chief 
Executive and Accountable Officer. The Residuary Board was charged with overseeing the residual 
responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period from 1 August 2014 until the Trust’s 
dissolution on 31 October 2014. In this task, the Residuary Board and I were supported by the NOMS 
Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
Post-dissolution 
The Order dissolving the Trust gave the Secretary of State the duty to ensure completion of this final 
Report and Accounts in accordance with the requirements of Managing Public Money. Following 
dissolution of the Trust, the former Residuary Board was reconstituted as the Probation Trusts’ Legacy 
Governance Group, a sub-committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board, to 
oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State’s duty. My appointment as Accountable Officer was also 
extended. As Accountable Officer, I was supported by the NOMS Audit and Risk Committee. 

Board Effectiveness 
On the basis of the assurances provided by my predecessor discussed below, I am satisfied that the 
Trust Board was compliant with the requirements of the Code of Practice and Conduct for Probation 
Trust Chairs and Members, the Probation Trust Governance Handbook, and Managing Public Money. 
At its initial meeting, the Residuary Board agreed rules of procedure which drew on the model standing 
orders set out in the Probation Trust Governance Handbook and were commensurate with the Board’s 
remit of overseeing the residual responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period. 
 
Oversight and Assurance Arrangements 
The Trust Board continued to exercise governance oversight until 31 July 2014. The Board’s remit was 
to give direction to, and ensure achievement of the objectives of the Trust operations and major change 
programmes; ensuring competent and prudent management, sound planning and proper procedures for 
the maintenance of adequate accounting and other records and systems of internal control, and 
compliance with legislative and corporate governance requirements. The Board met on three occasions 
from 1 April to 31 July 2014. 
 
Key areas of focus and highlights from Trust Board meetings 
The Board was provided with regular and timely information on the overall financial performance of the 
Trust together with other information such as performance against targets and the National Probation 
Trust Rating System, proposed capital expenditure, quality matters and personnel related matters such 
as health and safety and environmental issues. During this period, the Board also received regular 
updates on the Government’s proposals to Transforming Rehabilitation and on the Trusts progress in 
ensuring the safe transition in relation to the separation of the service into the National Probation Service 
and the Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company. 
 
The 2013 –14 Business Plan was updated and extended to incorporate the Transforming Rehabilitation 
(TR) agenda, and it was endorsed by the Trust Board in May 2013. The plan set out how the Trust 
proposed to deliver services during the first two months of 2014–15. In addition, the plan incorporated 
work to implement the TR change programme. The Trust Board and staff continued to engage with the 
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Ministry of Justice in the delivery of this programme and sought to ensure that the transition was 
managed in a way that promoted the best possible outcomes for service users and for staff. 
 
The Trust continued to work closely with local partners to ensure effective delivery of probation services 
during April and May 2014. 
 
Accountable Officer Handover 
In preparation for the transition of the governance arrangements to the Residuary Board, Leighe Rogers, 
my predecessor as Accountable Officer wrote to me prior to the end of her term of office to provide 
assurance over the activities of the Trust in the period until 31 July 2014. Leighe Rogers confirmed that 
the Trust’s governance and accountabilities remained in place throughout the period, providing evidence 
that the Trust’s overarching governance, risk management and control arrangements remained 
adequate during the period. The evidence included an internal audit by MoJ Internal Audit of the Trust’s 
control framework in April and May 2014, which drew on their assurances from 2013–14 and gave an 
overall opinion of “Substantial assurance”. 
 
Leighe Rogers drew my attention to the following significant risks and issues:  
 Operational Risk Register: There was a concern relating to the risk of loss of confidential data in 

the transition phase to the CRC and NOMS, although no data losses were identified in the period 
1 April to 31 July. 

 Transforming Rehabilitation Risk Register: The most significant risks listed were difficulties in 
maintaining the appropriate level of staffing, fulfilling data requests from NOMS to support the TR 
process at their end, caseload split and allocation between CRC and NOMS and finally the lack of a 
comprehensive ICT transfer process plan. 

 Other Significant Concerns during the period: There were a number of significant issues 
reported. These included the loss of most of the senior leadership team, as staff had left to take up 
posts elsewhere and the impossibility of recruiting new staff of the appropriate calibre in such a short 
time span. The proposed staff split between the CRC and NOMS had led to an imbalance in middle 
management and probation officers and due to the uncertainties felt by staff recruitment was very 
difficult. 

 
From the 1 August 2014 the Residuary Board continued the governance process through oversight of 
dissolution of the Trust by: 
 Reviewing the 2013–14 Annual Report and Accounts and the handover letter from my predecessor 

as Accountable Officer; 
 Receiving regular financial and other reports on progress of the dissolution of the Trust, reviewing 

these against progress of the Transforming Rehabilitation Programme and its relevant workstreams; 
and 

 Reviewing the details of key liabilities transferring to NOMS and CRCs to ensure appropriate transfer 
management. 

Risk Management 
The Residuary Board was satisfied that the Trust continued to maintain its pre-existing risk management 
protocols and procedures, and therefore it had satisfactory processes in place for the management of 
the operational delivery risk during April and May 2014. The Residuary Board was also satisfied that 
these risks transferred successfully to the CRC and NPS on 1 June 2014. 
 
The Residuary Board recognised there were some risks associated with the transfer process, particularly 
concerning continuing operational delivery and ensuring transfer was completed in a controlled way. 
 
NOMS (including NPS) and the TR Programme worked closely with the Trust and then with the CRC to 
manage the risks to business delivery in relation to probation services. An Implementation and Systems 
Assurance Board chaired by the NOMS CEO was established as a key component of the TR 
Programme governance to enable NOMS to oversee and manage the operational and delivery risks, 
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ensuring a smooth transition to the new structure. Some members of the Residuary Board, including the 
Chair, were also members of the Implementation and Systems Assurance Board. 
 
Notwithstanding the issues and risks which Leighe Rogers drew to my attention there was no significant 
diminution of the Trust’s core service provision during the period of operation until 31 May 2014. 
Performance measures agreed with the National Offender Management Service were continued from the 
previous year and continued to be monitored, showing acceptable performance broadly consistent with 
prior levels. An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report.  
 
Non-current assets were transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC at 1 June 2014 in accordance 
with the Property Transfer Scheme. Assets remained in their pre-existing physical location following 
transfer. 
 
Cash held at the point of dissolution was returned to NOMS. Cash held at local delivery units were 
returned to the Trust and the balances allocated to NOMS or the CRC as required. Cash relating to the 
delivery of European Social Fund projects was transferred to the body responsible for future delivery of 
the project. 
 
The archiving of the Trust’s structured and unstructured data is expected to continue until spring 2015, 
overseen by the TR Programme’s Data Archiving Workstream, with support from NOMS and the CRC. 
The Workstream has properly considered data loss issues following the removal and subsequent 
movement of data. 

Board Attendance 
 
In the period 1 April – 31 July 2014 
 
Name Role Trust Board 
John Steele Chair 3 of 3 
Leighe Rogers  Chief Executive 3 of 3 
Charles Everett Member 2 of 3 
Chris Grimes Member 3 of 3 
John Jeffery Member 1 of 3 
Jacky Pendleton Member 3 of 3 
Stewart Neal Member 2 of 3 
 
The Board listed above resigned their posts on 31 July 2014. 
 
The Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust Board’s Governance responsibility transferred to the Probation 
Trusts’ Residuary Board on 31 July 2014. 
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From 1 August 2014 

Name Role 
Residuary Board to 

31 October 2014 

Legacy Governance 
Group from 

1 November 2014 
Colin Allars Director of Probation (Chair) 4 of 4 2 of 3 
Mark Taylor Deputy Director of Probation, Acting 

CEO and Accountable Officer 
4 of 4 3 of 3 

Sian Hibbs Deputy Director NOMS in Wales 1 of 4 3 of 3 
Amy Rees MoJ Deputy Director Delivery and 

Transforming Rehabilitation 
3 of 4 3 of 3 

Christine Straw* Deputy Director NOMS HR 4 of 4 1 of 3 
Sally Wordsworth** Finance Business Partner Probation 4 of 4 2 of 2 
Ian Baker*** Finance Business Partner Probation N/A 1 of 1 

In attendance: 
   

Fiona Moore NOMS Head of CRC Governance 
(Board Secretary) 

4 of 4 3 of 3 

* Until 3 January 2015 
** Until 9 January 2015 
*** From 12 January 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
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6. The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament 

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust for the 
period ended 31 October 2014 under the Offender Management Act 2007. The financial statements 
comprise: the Statements of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes 
in Taxpayers’ Equity; and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out within them. I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report 
that is described in that report as having been audited. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Board, Accountable Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Board and the 
Accountable Officer are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial 
statements in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007. I conducted my audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my certificate. 
 
I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and 
income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
 
Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements 
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the 
financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion: 
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust’s 

affairs as at 31 October 2014 and of the net income for the period then ended; and 
 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management 

Act 2007 and Secretary of State directions issued thereunder. 
 
Emphasis of matter – going concern 
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the disclosures in Note 1.3 to the financial statements 
in respect of going concern. The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 under the Offender 
Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014, with all assets, liabilities and 
functions having transferred to the Secretary of State for Justice on 1 June 2014. In accordance with the 
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Government Financial Reporting Manual, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other 
than that of a going concern. 
 
Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion: 
 the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 

Secretary of State directions made under the Offender Management Act 2007; and 
 the information given in the Strategic Report and Management Commentary for the period for which 

the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which I report by exception 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion: 
 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by my staff; or 
 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 

with the accounting records and returns; or 
 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 
 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s guidance. 
 
Report 
I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
Sir Amyas C E Morse   23 February 2015 
Comptroller and Auditor General 
 
National Audit Office 
157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP 
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7. Accounts 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  

Period to 
31 October 

2014 
Year to

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Expenditure   
Staff costs 3(a) 3,104 18,724
Other expenditure 6 587 6,487
Total Expenditure  3,691 25,211
   
Income 7 (3,627) (25,013)
   
Net operating costs  64 198
   
Net interest cost on pension scheme 4(c) 252 1,304
   
Net operating costs before taxation  316 1,502
   
Taxation 5 - (52)
   
Net operating costs after taxation  316 1,450
   
Non-operating activities   
   
Net (gain)/loss on absorption* 26 (32,938) -
   
Net expenditure/(income)  (32,622) 1,450
 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure 
 

  

Period to 
31 October 

2014 
Year to

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Items that will not be reclassified to net operating costs:   
   
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 22 - (1)
   
Re-measurement of post employment benefits 4(c) (1,204) 4,489
   
Net comprehensive expenditure/(income) (33,826) 5,938
 
* The net (gain)/loss on absorption reflects the carrying value of net assets/liabilities transferred from the 

Trust to NOMS and the CRC. The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when activities, staff, 
most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and the CRC. 

 
The notes on pages 30 to 55 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 October 2014 
 

  
As at 31 

October 2014 
As at 

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 8 - 166
Intangible assets 9 - -
Total non-current assets  - 166
   
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables 11(a) - 2,965
Cash and cash equivalents 12 - 703
Total current assets  - 3,668
   
Total assets  - 3,834
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 13(a) - (1,510)
Provisions 14 - (64)
Taxation payables 13(a) - (1,179)
Total current liabilities  - (2,753)
   
Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/(liabilities)  - 1,081
   
Non-current liabilities   
Pension liability 4(c) - (34,907)
Total non-current liabilities  - (34,907)
   
Assets less liabilities  - (33,826)
   
Taxpayers’ equity   
General fund 21 - (33,899)
Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment 22(a) - 73
  - (33,826)
 
The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and 
the CRC. Residual balances transferred to NOMS prior to dissolution of the Trust. See Note 26. 
 
The financial statements on pages 26 to 29 were approved and signed by 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Taylor 
Accountable Officer 
9 February 2015 
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 55 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 Notes £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities   
Net operating costs SoCNE (316) (1,450)
Adjustments for non-cash transactions 6 (1) 34
Adjustment for pension cost  316 1,539
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 11(a) 2,965 321
Adjustment for receivables transferred to NOMS and CRC 26 (18) -
Increase/(decrease) in payables 13(a) (2,689) (618)
Adjustment for payables transferred to NOMS and CRC 26  408 -
Utilisation of provisions 14 (38) (517)
Net cash outflow from operating activities  627 (691)
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 - -
Purchase of intangibles 9 - -
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 - -
Net cash outflow from investing activities  - -
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Net financing received in year 21 - -
Net financing  - -
   
Transfer of cash to NOMS and CRC 26 (1,330) -
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the period (703) (691)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 12 703 1,394
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 12 - (703)
Increase/(decrease) in cash  (703) (691)
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 55 form part of these accounts. 
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 

For the period ending 31 October 2014 
 

  
General 

Fund
Revaluation 

Reserve Total
 Notes £000 £000 £000
   
Balance as at 1 April 2013  (27,960) 72 (27,888)
Prior period adjustment  - - -
As restated at 1 April 2013  (27,960) 72 (27,888)
   
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013–14    
   
Net expenditure SoCNE (1,450) - (1,450)
   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 

22(a) - 1 1

Transferred to General Fund from property, plant and 
equipment revaluation reserve 

22(a) - - -

   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 22(b) - - -
Transferred to General Fund from tangibles revaluation 
reserve 

22(b) - - -

   
Transferred from revaluation reserve 21 - - -
Re-measurement of post employment benefits 4(c) (4,489) - (4,489)
Net NOMS financing received in year 21 - - -
   
Balance as at 31 March 2014  (33,899) 73 (33,826)
   
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for the period to 31 October 2014  
   
Net expenditure SoCNE 32,622 - 32,622
   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 

22(a) - - -

Transferred to General Fund from property, plant and 
equipment revaluation reserve 

22(a) - (73) (73)

   
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 22(b) - - -
Transferred to General Fund from intangibles revaluation 
reserve 

22(b) - - -

   
Transferred from revaluation reserve 21 73 - 73
Remeasurement of post employment benefits 4(c) 1,204 - 1,204
Net NOMS financing received in period 21 - - -
   
Balance as at 31 October 2014  - - -
 
 
The notes on pages 30 to 55 form part of these accounts. 
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Notes to the accounts 

1. Statement of accounting 
policies 

1.1 Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are for the period from 
1 April 2014 to 31 October 2014. The comparative 
figures are for the year from 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2014. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the 2014–15 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by 
HM Treasury. The accounting policies contained in 
the FReM follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as at the reporting date to the 
extent that it is meaningful and appropriate to the 
public sector. 
 
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the policy which has been judged to be the 
most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the Probation Trust for the purpose of giving a true 
and fair view has been selected. The Probation 
Trust’s accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 
 
The Trust has not adopted any Standards or 
Interpretations in advance of the required 
implementation dates. It is not expected that 
adoption of Standards or Interpretations which 
have been issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board but have not been adopted will 
have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
The functional and presentation currency of the 
Trust is the British pound sterling (£). 

1.2 Accounting convention 
These accounts have been prepared on an 
accruals basis under the historical cost convention 
and modified to account for the revaluation of 
non-current assets. 

1.3 Going concern 
The publication “Transforming Rehabilitation: A 
strategy for Reform” dated 9 May 2013 included 
plans to contract out certain probation services 
more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts. 
 

On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased 
operating, and their activities were taken over from 
1 June 2014 by the National Probation Service 
(NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation 
Companies (CRCs). 
 
The NPS was created as a new directorate within 
NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to 
manage the highest risk offenders in the 
community in England and Wales. 
 
The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary 
of State for Justice on behalf of the Ministry of 
Justice (MoJ). CRCs provide rehabilitation and 
offender management services for lower risk 
offenders in the community in England and Wales. 
 
Following a tender process for the CRCs, 
contracts were signed with preferred bidders in 
December 2014, to take ownership of the CRCs 
from 1 February 2015. Probation services will 
continue to be commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from 
the CRCs under this arrangement. The contracts 
will influence the operations of the CRCs. 
MoJ/NOMS has committed to fund and ensure all 
current probation services will continue under the 
new structure, using the same assets and 
resources, for the foreseeable future. 
 
In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff 
Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme 
(the Schemes) under the Offender Management 
Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 
1 June 2014, transferring staff, activities, assets 
and liabilities from Surrey and Sussex Probation 
Trust to the Secretary of State. 
 
On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation 
services in relation to advising courts on 
sentencing and managing high risk offenders, 
taking on certain of the staff, operational activity 
and rights and obligations transferred from the 
Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice. 
 
Immediately following the transfer from the Trust 
on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred 
certain of the staff, activities, rights and obligations 
to Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community 
Rehabilitation Company, which began delivering 
rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the 
community in England and Wales from 1 June. 
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The Schemes contained provisions for their 
modification and for re-allocation of those assets 
and liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the 
Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. 
The physical transfer of residual unsettled assets 
and liabilities under the Scheme took place 
between 1 June and the date of dissolution. 
 
In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, 
operational activities, rights and obligations from 
the Trust are referred to as being either to NOMS 
or to the CRC, to distinguish between those 
remaining with the Secretary of State and those 
transferred to the CRC. 
 
See Note 26 for details of transferred balances. 
 
All 35 Probation Trusts, including Surrey and 
Sussex Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 
October 2014. 
 
As all of the Trust’s operations ceased during the 
period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, the 
Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31 
October 2014, and these accounts have therefore 
been prepared on a basis other than that of a 
going concern. 
 
Applying a basis other than that of a going concern 
has no material impact on the Trust’s accounts. All 
assets and liabilities were transferred out of the 
Trust at carrying value under absorption 
accounting before the Trust was dissolved. 

1.4 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment was transferred as 
at 1 June 2014 to NOMS or the CRC on the basis 
of majority use of the asset. 
 
All land and building assets used by the Probation 
Trust are managed and owned centrally by NOMS 
and are recorded on their Statement of Financial 
Position. Recharges from NOMS for IT and 
Estates costs were not made in the period to 31 
October 2014. 
 
Revaluation 
The revaluation reserve reflects the unrealised 
element of the cumulative balance of revaluation 
and indexation adjustments in non-current assets. 
Revaluation reserves created while the Trust 
operated have been transferred to the General 
Fund as at 31 May 2014. 

1.5 Depreciation 
Non-current assets were depreciated at rates 
calculated to write them down to estimated 
residual value on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. Assets in the course of 
construction were depreciated from the point at 
which the asset was brought into use. 
 
Asset lives prior to the transfer to NOMS and the 
CRC are currently in the following ranges: 
 
Information technology 5 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Plant & equipment 3 to 15 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Vehicles 7 years depending on 

individual asset type 
Furniture, fixtures & 
fittings 

5 years depending on 
individual asset type 

1.6 Impairment 
Owing to the low value of assets transferred and 
given the proximity to the 2013–14 year end, an 
additional impairment review was not considered 
necessary. 

1.7 Intangible non-current assets 
Intangible non-current assets have been allocated 
to the NOMS or the CRC on the basis of majority 
use of the asset. The Trust recognised intangible 
non-current assets only if it was probable that 
future service potential would flow to the Trust and 
the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. 
Intangibles comprised internally developed 
software for internal use, software developed by 
third parties and licenses for purchased software. 
Intangible assets were amortised using the 
straight-line method over their anticipated useful 
lives. The useful lives of the software range from 
3 to 10 years. Licences were amortised over the 
length of the licence. 
 
As there was no active market for these intangible 
assets, their fair value was assessed at the 
re-valued amount less any accumulated 
amortisation. 

1.8 Inventories 
Stocks of stationery and other consumable stores 
are not considered material and are written off in 
the SoCNE as they are purchased. 
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1.9 Operating income 
Income is accounted for applying the accruals 
convention and is recognised in the period in 
which services are provided. 
 
Operating income is income that relates directly to 
the operating activities of the Probation Trust. This 
comprises income under the Trust’s contract with 
NOMS for the provision of Probation Services, rent 
receivables, income from EU sources, income 
from other Trusts, from within the MoJ Group, 
from other Government Departments and 
miscellaneous income. Fees and charges for 
services are recovered on a full cost basis in 
accordance with the Treasury’s Fees and 
Charges guide. 

1.10 Other Expenditure 
All non-staff expenditure is shown as Other 
Expenditure. 
 
On consolidation into NOMS Agency Accounts, 
all expenditure and income is classified as 
programme, except the audit fee, which is 
administration expenditure. 

1.11 Pensions 
Past employees and employees who transferred 
from the Trust are covered by the provisions of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This 
is a funded defined benefit scheme. Retirement 
benefits are determined independently of the 
investments of the scheme and employers are 
obliged to make additional contributions where 
assets are insufficient to meet retirement benefits. 
 
The responsibility for funding future contributions 
associated with those original employees who are 
active members of the LGPS transferred with the 
employee to their new employer. NOMS ensures 
that the past service liabilities are fully funded on 
an ongoing basis on the date employees 
transferred. Any increase to employer contribution 
levels, other than those caused by discretionary 
actions of the CRC will be funded by NOMS. 
 
The pension fund is subject to an independent 
triennial actuarial valuation to determine each 
employer’s contribution rate (Disclosure of 
Stakeholder Pensions Schemes is not included in 
these accounts). The last triennial review was 
conducted on 31 March 2013. 
 

The last roll-forward valuation was performed at 
31 March 2014 by the Trust’s Actuary. 
 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension 
liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to 
the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF). 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a 
guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs’ 
participation in the GMPF for pension liabilities in 
respect of employees that transferred to the 
CRCs. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities associated with the original employees 
who are deferred or pensioner members of the 
LGPS transferred to NOMS. 
 
Given the proximity to the most recent roll-forward 
valuation an assumption was made that the make 
up of current and former employees would not 
have changed significantly enough to result in a 
material change in demographic assumptions, nor 
that there had been any significant change in bond 
or interest rates over the period that would result in 
a material gain or loss from the financial 
assumptions made. 
 
The liability recognised in the SoFP as at 31 
March 2014 in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans at the reporting date was the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value 
of plan assets. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation was determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using discount 
rates as advised by the scheme actuary. 
 
Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised 
within Other Comprehensive Expenditure in the 
period in which they arise. 
 
In the final reporting period, as well as recognising 
contributions, the Trust recognised estimates of 
material movements: current service costs, 
interest costs, benefits paid and the actual return 
on plan assets from 1 April to 31 May 2014. 
 
Current service costs and interest costs were 
estimated using forecasts from the actuarial 
reports as at 31 March 2014. 
 
Benefits paid for the two months to 31 May 2014 
were estimated based on benefits paid in  
2013–14. 
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The actual return on plan assets for the two 
months to 31 May 2014 was estimated based on 
the percentage actual return on assets in the 
LGPS, on the assumption that most pension funds 
will have a materially similar risk profile for their 
investments. The percentage was applied to the 
Trust’s opening plan assets, and the resulting 
return was adjusted to deduct the net interest on 
plan assets. 
 
In preparing the Trust accounts an assumption 
was made that there would have been no 
significant change to the financial assumptions 
made in the 31 March 2014 actuarial report. 
To support this assumption management 
undertook a sensitivity analysis using data 
provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation. 
The results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly 
analogous with market movements over the period 
and suggest that had an actuarial valuation been 
performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would 
have been an increase in the liability in the order 
of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this 
estimated impact is not significant to the £34m 
liability, and have therefore not commissioned an 
actuarial valuation as at 31 May 2014. 
 
Pension assets and liabilities were transferred 
from the Trust to NOMS as at 1 June 2014. 
 
An actuarial valuation of the scheme will be 
provided in the NOMS 2014–15 Report and 
Accounts. 

1.12 Leases 
The Trust held no finance leases in either 
reporting period. 
 
Under operating leases, the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. The rentals are charged to the SoCNE 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
All leases which were current at 1 June 2014 were 
transferred to the NOMS or the CRC on the basis 
of majority use. 

1.13 Provisions 
Provisions represent liabilities of uncertain timing 
or amount. Provisions are recognised when the 
Probation Trust has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is significant, the 

estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted 
using the real rate set by HM Treasury. 
 
Unsettled provisions and contingent liabilities were 
transferred to NOMS or the CRC prior to the 
dissolution of the Trust. 

1.14 Value Added Tax 
For the Probation Trust most of the activities are 
within the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
is charged and input tax on purchases is 
recoverable. Capitalised purchase cost of 
non-current assets are stated net of recoverable 
VAT. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
 
Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, final 
outstanding VAT balances were transferred to 
NOMS for settlement. 

1.15 Corporation Tax 
The Trust was a “corporate body” in accordance 
with the Offender Management Act 2007 supplying 
court work and offender management services to 
NOMS and the Ministry of Justice, and as a result, 
HMRC has confirmed that it is subject to 
corporation tax. The Trust was therefore subject to 
Corporation Tax (CT) on its profits, and ‘profit’ for 
this purpose means income and chargeable gains. 
These accounts include estimates of corporation 
tax liabilities. 
 
Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, all known or 
unknown past, present and future balances in 
respect of corporation tax liabilities were 
transferred to NOMS for settlement. 

1.16 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash in 
hand, that is readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and is subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
 
Cash balances were transferred to NOMS or the 
CRC prior to dissolution of the Trust. 

1.17 Financial instruments 
As the cash requirements of the Trust are met 
through the estimates process, financial 
instruments play a more limited role in creating risk 
than would apply to a non-public sector body of a 
similar size. The majority of financial instruments 
relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line 
with the Trust’s expected purchase and usage 
requirements as well as cash, receivables and 
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payables. Therefore it is felt that the Trust is 
exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 

1.18 Segmental analysis of spend as 
reported to the Management Board 
The segmental analysis presents the financial 
information based on the structure reported to the 
Trust’s Management Board. The segments reflect 
the Trust’s own individual structure allowing the 
Board to have a clear view on the costs of 
front-line operations. This is in accordance with 
IFRS 8 Segmental Reporting. Further detail is 
shown in Note 2. 

1.19 Third party assets 
The Trust held, as custodian or trustee, certain 
assets belonging to third parties. These assets are 
not recognised on the Statement of Financial 
Position and are disclosed within Note 24. These 
assets were transferred to NOMS prior to 
dissolution. 

1.20 Basis of allocation of balances from 
1 June 2014 
From 1 June 2014, the assets and liabilities of the 
Probation Trust were allocated between NOMS 
and the CRC as follows: 
 
Pensions 
From 1 June 2014 the Trust’s existing pension 
liabilities and corresponding assets were 
transferred to NOMS. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities and all future contributions associated 
with those original employees who are active 
members of the LGPS have transferred with the 
employee to the new employer. NOMS ensures 
that the past service liabilities are fully funded on 
an ongoing basis from the date the employees 
transferred to the CRC. 
 
The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a 
guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs’ 
participation in the GMPF. 
 
The responsibility for funding the past service 
liabilities associated with the original employees 
who are deferred or pensioner members of the 
LGPS has transferred to NOMS. 
 

Leases and service contracts 
Property and IT leases remain within the Ministry 
of Justice. 
 
All other service contracts were transferred to the 
relevant entity based on where the services of that 
contract will be provided. Where the services are 
shared by both entities, in most cases the contract 
will have been transferred to the majority user. 
 
Staff related balances 
All staff related balances, not settled by the Trust 
shortly after 1 June 2014, have been allocated to 
the relevant entity to which each staff member was 
transferred. 
 
All other balances 
Existing debtors and creditors that remained within 
the Trust have been settled from existing funds. 
 
All other balances have been allocated on a 
practical basis taking in to account future use, staff 
member allocation and services provided by that 
entity. 
 
Where an asset, liability or service is utilised by 
both entities it transferred to NOMS. 
 
 
 



Period ending 31 October 2014 | Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust 

2. Statement of Operating Costs by Operating Segment 

 
Period to 

31 October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 Net Expenditure Net Expenditure
 £000 £000
  
Public Protection 702 4,209
Community Payback & Prisons 332 2,070
  
OM West 382 2,503
OM East 250 1,650
OM Brighton 382 2,341
OM Surrey 462 2,800
OM Total 1,476 9,294
  
Trust Wide Services 50 298
PQFs and Supernumary PSOs 82 438
  
Total “Frontline” Spending 2,642 16,309
  
Finance & ICT Staff 112 673
Service Support & Facilities 219 1,398
HR & Training 143 1,285
Commissioning, Service Redesign & Competition 16 90
Performance & Communications 76 443
Central Management & Board 264 1,055
  
Support Total 830 4,944
  
NOMS Estates Recharge - 1,259
NOMS ICT Recharge - 956
Other Pension Costs 64 -
Pension Interest 252 1,304
Redundancy Costs - 157
Overheads 316 3,676
  
Total Net Expenditure 3,788 24,929
  
Income (3,472) (23,427)
  
Net Operating Costs Before Taxation 316 1,502
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3. Staff numbers and related costs 

3a. Staff costs consist of: 
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Period to  

31 October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014

 Total
Permanently-

employed staff Others Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Wages and salaries 2,688 2,615 73 16,176
Social security costs 191 191 - 1,169
Other pension costs 523 523 - 3,087
Sub-total 3,402 3,329 73 20,432
Less recoveries in respect of outward secondments (298) (298) - (1,708)
Total staff costs 3,104 3,031 73 18,724
 
No staff (2013–14: 1 person) retired early on ill-health grounds, the total additional accrued pension liabilities were met by the pension fund. 

3b. Average number of persons employed 
The average number of full time equivalent persons (including senior management) employed during the period was as follows: 
 

Period to  
31 May 2014 

Year to 
31 March 2014

Total
Permanently-

employed staff Others Total
521 506 15 523

 
274 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 255 FTE to NOMS on 1 June 2014. After 1 June, only Board members were in post. 
 
 

 



P
eriod ending 31 O

ctober 2014
|

S
u

rrey an
d

 S
u

ssex P
ro

b
atio

n
 T

ru
st 

37 

 

 

3c. Reporting of compensation schemes – exit packages 
 

 
Period to  

31 October 2014 
Year to  

31 March 2014 

Exit packages cost band 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band 

<£10,000 - - - 4 4 8 
£10,000–£25,000 - - - 1 9 10 
£25,001–£50,000 - - - 1 - 1 

Total number of exit packages by type - - - 6 13 19 
  
Total resource cost £000 - - - 78 148 226 
 
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the Trust compensation scheme. Exit costs are accounted for in full 
in the year in which they are agreed. The additional costs of any early retirements are met from the Trust and not the pension scheme and are 
included in the above figures. Ill health retirement costs are met from the pension scheme and are excluded from the above table. 
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4. Pensions costs 

Until 31 May 2014 pension benefits were provided through the East Sussex County Council Pension 
fund. The Fund was administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2007/08. It was intended to be a fully funded scheme which provides benefits on a final 
salary basis at a normal retirement age of 65. Members are eligible to retire earlier; either they meet the 
85 year rule or have employer’s consent to leave prior to that age. Pensions are paid in line with the CPI 
index on benefits that have accrued at a rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for each year of service. 
 
On 1 April 2014, the pension scheme changed to Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 2014, 
which replaces the 2008 scheme. Under this scheme the pension added for each member, each year, is 
based on 1/49th of their earnings (1/98th if opted to be a member of the 50/50 section of the scheme). 
The individual pension accounts will then be increased each year by the Consumer Price Index up to 
retirement. Repeating this calculation for each year of membership provides what is known the as a 
Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) Pension. 
 
The last full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013. An updated desktop valuation was 
provided by the scheme’s actuaries at 31 March 2014 and reflected in the Trust’s 2013–14 accounts. 
For the period to 31 May 2014 these accounts reflect the contributions paid into the scheme and 
estimates of the benefits paid out of the scheme, the net interest charge, service costs and movements 
in the present value of pension obligations and the fair value of plan assets. 
 
As at 1 June 2014 the Trust’s pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to NOMS at their 
carrying value. 

4a. Pension costs 
A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013 by Hymans Robertson. This full scheme 
valuation is undertaken every 3 years in order to review the employer’s contributions. The contribution 
rate reflects benefits as they are accrued, not when the costs are actually incurred and they reflect the 
past experience of the scheme. Member contributions ranged from 5 – 7%, dependant on salary band. 
 
Contributions continued for Chief Executives who remained in post after 31 May until their appointment 
expired. 
 
Member contributions changed from 1 April 2014 and any benefits accrued from this date are based on 
a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis, with various protections in place for those members 
in the scheme before the changes take effect. The Probation Trust was not required to pay employer 
contributions for those employees who transferred after it ceased operations on 31 May 2014. 
 
Contributions from 1 June 2014 are referred to in Note 1.11. 
 
A sensitivity analysis using data provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation was performed. The 
results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly analogous with market movements over the period and 
suggest that had an actuarial valuation been performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would have 
been an increase in the liability in the order of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this estimated 
impact is not significant to the £34m liability, and have therefore not commissioned an actuarial valuation 
as at 31 May 2014. 
 
Partnership accounts are excluded under IAS 19. 
 
The approximate employer’s pension contributions for the period to 31 May 2014 were 20.1% of salaries. 
For the two months to 31 May 2014 employer contributions were £459,000 (2013–2014: £2,967,000). 
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4b. The major assumptions used by the actuary at 31 March 2014 were: 
 
 2013–14 
 
 
 

4b. The major assumptions used by the actuary at 31 March 2014 were: 
 
 2013–14 
 % 
Inflation assumption 2.5% 
Rate of increase in salaries 4.6% 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.8% 
Discount rate 4.3% 
 
Given the close proximity of the 31 May transfer date to the last roll forward valuation prepared by the 
Trust’s Actuaries, we have judged the 31 March 2014 assumptions used by the actuary to remain 
relevant. 
 
These assumptions have been used to estimate the movements for 2014–15 roll-forward and are 
considered to be reasonable. 
 
The mortality assumptions were based on the recent actual mortality experience of members within this 
Fund and allow for expected future mortality improvements. 
 
Mortality Assumptions: 
Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vitacurves, with improvements in line with the CM1 2010 model 
assuming the current rates of improvements has peaked and will converge to a long term rate of 1.25%. 
Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are: 
 current pensioners 22.2 years (male) 24.4years (female); 
 future pensioners 24.2 years (male) 26.7 years (female). 
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4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period 
 
 Period to 31 October 2014 

 
Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

 £000 £000 £000
Plan assets - 86,676 86,676
Funded liabilities (121,583) -  (121,583)
Unfunded liabilities - - -
Opening balance at 1 April 2014 (121,583) 86,676 (34,907)
  
Current service costs  (523) - (523)
  
Net interest (cost)/income (878) 626 (252)
  
Re-measurements  

Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in 
interest expense / (income) 

- 1,204 1,204

Gain/(loss) from change in demographic assumptions - - -
Gain/(loss) from change in financial assumptions - - -
Experience gains/(losses) - - -

  
Contributions  

Employers - 458 458
Plan participants (150) 150 -
Unfunded benefits - 1 1

Payments from plans  
Benefit payments 500 (500) -
Unfunded benefit payments - - -

Balance at 31 May 2014 (122,634) 88,615 (34,019)
  
Transfer by absorption on 31 May 2014 122,634 (88,615) 34,019

  
Closing balance at 31 October 2014 - - -
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4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period (continued) 
 
 Year to 31 March 2014 

 
Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

 £000 £000 £000
Plan assets - 86,433 86,433
Funded liabilities (115,312) - (115,312)
Unfunded liabilities - - -
Opening balance at 1 April 2013 (115,312) 86,433 (28,879)
  
Current service costs (3,075) - (3,075)
Past service costs (including curtailments) (127) - (127)
Gains and losses on settlements - - -
Total Service Costs (3,202) - (3,202)
  
Net interest (cost)/income (5,210) 3,906 (1,304)
  
Remeasurements  

Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest - (4,539) (4,539)
Gain/(loss) from change in demographic assumptions (2,403) - (2,403)
Gain/(loss) from change in financial assumptions (3,004) - (3,004)
Experience gains/(losses) 5,457 - 5,457

 50 (4,539) (4,489)
Contributions  

Employers - 2,967 2,967
Plan participants (907) 907 -
Unfunded benefits - - -

Payments from plans  
Benefit payments 2,998 (2,998) -
Unfunded benefit payments - - -

Closing balance at 31 March 2014 (121,583) 86,676 (34,907)
  
Plan assets - 86,676 86,676
Funded liabilities (121,583) - (121,583)
Unfunded liabilities - - -
Closing balance at 31 March 2014 (121,583) 86,676 (34,907)
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4d. Plan assets as at 31 March 2014 were comprised as follows 
 
 As at 31 March 2014 
 Quoted Unquoted Total %
 £000 £000 £000
Equity instruments  

Consumer 4,222 - 4,222
Energy and Utilities 2,259 - 2,259
Financial Institutions 4,755 - 4,755
Health and Care 2,564 - 2,564
Information Technology 2,338 - 2,338
Manufacturing 2,147 - 2,147
Other 1,234 6,960 8,194

 19,519 6,960 26,479 31%
Debt instruments  

UK Government - 1,219 1,219
Corporate bonds (investment grade) - - -
Corporate bonds (non-investment grade) - - -  
Other - 1,150 1,150

 - 2,369 2,369 3%
Property  

In the UK 479 7,331 7,810
Overseas - - -
Property funds - - -

 479 7,331 7,810 9%
Derivatives  

Inflation - - -
Interest rate - - -
Foreign exchange - 50 50
Other - - -

 - 50 50 0%
  
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,626 2,626 3%
  
Investment funds  

Equities 103 41,187 41,290
Bonds 3,294 2,332 5,626
Hedge funds 171 - 171
Commodities 255 - 255
Infrastructure - - -
Other - - -

 3,823 43,519 47,342 55%
  
Other - - - 0%
  
Total 23,821 62,855 86,676 100%
 
All plan assets transferred out of the Trust on 31 May 2014. Actuarial valuations of the pension liabilities 
for all 35 PTs were undertaken at the last financial year end, being 31 March 2014. The transfer date of 
31 May 2014 includes two months of pension movements after the actuarial valuations were completed. 
The approach taken by NOMS gives an estimate of the transfer value rather than an actual value. 
Accordingly a breakdown of plan assets at the transfer date cannot be given. 
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5. Taxation 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 
Year to 

31 March 2014
 £000 £000
UK corporation tax - (52)
  
Total - (52)
 
Probation Trusts are corporate bodies under the Offender Management Act 2007, supplying court work 
and offender management services to the Ministry of Justice. The Trust is therefore subject to 
Corporation Tax on its profits and ‘profit’ for this purpose means income and chargeable gains. 
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6. Other Expenditure 

 Period to 31 October 2014 Year to 31 March 2014 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Rentals under operating leases - 21  
Accommodation, maintenance and utilities 9 1,461  
Travel, subsistence and hospitality 105 602  
Professional services 67 239  
IT services 13 1,125  
Communications, office supplies and services 57 427  
Other staff related 67 717  
Offender costs 58 345  
Other expenditure 173 1,455  
External Auditors’ remuneration – statutory accounts 39 36  
Internal Auditors’ remuneration - 25  
 588 6,453 
  
Non-cash items  
Depreciation of tangible non-cash assets 13 84  
(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible non-current assets - 10  
Other provisions provided in year (14) (60)  
Early retirement provisions not required - -  
 (1) 34 
Total 587 6,487 
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The prior period comparatives include recharges from MoJ/NOMS for Internal Audit, IT and Estates costs; these recharges were not made in 
the period to 31 October 2014. 
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7. Income 

 Period to 31 October 2014 Year to 31 March 2014 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Income receivable from the sponsoring department – NOMS 3,472 23,697  
 3,472 23,697 
  
Other EU income - 11  
Other income received from Probation Trusts 2 16  
Other income from NOMS 11 223  
Other income from rest of MoJ Group 7 20  
Other income from other government departments 97 621  
Miscellaneous income 38 424  
 3,627 25,012 
  
Interest received:  

From bank - 1  
Total interest received - 1 
  
Total income 3,627 25,013 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 

 Period to 31 October 2014 

 
Plant and 

machinery
Transport 

equipment Total
 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2014 283 441 724
Additions - - -
Disposals - - -
Transfers to NOMS (283) - (283)
Transfers to CRC - (441) (441)
Reclassification - - -
Impairments - - -
Indexation/revaluation - - -
As at 31 October 2014 - - -
  
Depreciation  
As at 1 April 2014 231 327 558
Charge in year 5 8 13
Disposals - - -
Transfers to NOMS (236) - (236)
Transfers to CRC - (335) (335)
Reclassification - - -
Impairments - - -
Indexation/revaluation - - -
As at 31 October 2014 - - -
  
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - -
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 52 114 166
  
Asset financing  
Owned - - -
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014 - - -
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8. (Continued) 

 2013–14 

 
Plant and 

machinery
Transport 

equipment Total
 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2013 424 439 863
Additions - - -
Disposals (143) - (143)
Transfers - - -
Reclassification - - -
Impairment - - -
Indexation/revaluation 2 2 4
As at 31 March 2014 283 441 724
  
Depreciation  
As at 1 April 2013 325 279 604
Charge in year 37 47 84
Disposals (133) - (133)
Transfers - - -
Reclassification - - -
Impairment - - -
Indexation/revaluation 2 1 3
As at 31 March 2014 231 327 558
  
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 52 114 166
Carrying value as at 31 March 2013 99 160 259
  
Asset financing  
Owned 52 114 166
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014 52 114 166
 
 
 

9. Intangible assets 

There were no intangible assets held during the period (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

10. Impairments 

There were no impairments in the period (2013–14: £nil). 
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11. Trade receivables and other current assets 

11a. Analysis by type 
 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year  
Deposits and advances - 12
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from NOMS Agency - 2,777
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from MoJ Group - 26
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from other government 
departments 

- 149

Other receivables - 1
 - 2,965
  
Amounts falling due after more than one year - -
  
Total - 2,965
 

11b. Intra-Government receivables 
 

 
Amounts falling due within 

one year 
Amounts falling due after more 

than one year 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balances with other central Government 
bodies (inc. parent department) 

- 2,803 - -

Balances with local authorities - 149 - -
Balances with NHS bodies - - - -
 - 2,952 - -
Balances with bodies external to 
Government 

- 13 - -

Total - 2,965 - -
 
 
 

12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 2013–14
 £000 £000
  
Balance at 1 April 703 1,394
Transfers to NOMS (1,330) -
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 627 (691)
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - 703
  
The following balances at 31 March are held at:  
Commercial banks and cash in hand - 703
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - 703
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13. Trade payables and other current liabilities 

13a. Analysis by type 
 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
Amounts falling due within one year (excluding taxation) £000 £000
Trade payables - 620
Accruals - 366
Other payables  - 52
Unpaid pension contributions due to the pension scheme - 321
Payables due to Probation Trusts - 4
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to NOMS Agency - 8
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to other Government 
departments 

- 139

 - 1,510
  
Tax falling due within one year  
VAT - 854
Other taxation and social security - 325
 - 1,179
  
Total amounts falling due within one year - 2,689
  
Amounts falling due after more than one year - -
  
Total - 2,689
 

13b. Intra-Government payables 
 

 
Amounts falling due within 

one year 
Amounts falling due after more 

than one year 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balances with other central Government 
bodies (inc. parent department) 

- 1,195 - -

Balances with local authorities - 134 - -
Balances with public corporations and 
trading funds 

- 1 - -

 - 1,330 - -
Balances with bodies external to 
Government 

- 1,359 - -

Total - 2,689 - -
 
 
 

49 



Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust | Period ending 31 October 2014 

14. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 Period to 31 October 2014 

 

Early 
retirements 

costs
Other 

Provisions

Voluntary 
Early 

Departure Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April - 12 52 64
Transfers to NOMS  - (12) - (12)
Provisions not required written back - - (14) (14)
Provision utilised in the year - - (38) (38)
Unwinding of discount - - - -
Balance as at 31 October 2014 - - - -
 
 2013–14 

 

Early 
retirements 

costs
Other 

Provisions

Voluntary 
Early 

Departure Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April - 284 357 641
Provided in year - 4 18 22
Provisions not required written back - (82) - (82)
Provision utilised in the year - (194) (323) (517)
Unwinding of discount - - - -
Balance as at 31 March - 12 52 64
 
 2013–14 

Early 
retirements 

costs
Other 

Provisions

Voluntary 
Early 

Departure TotalAnalysis of expected timing of discount 
flows £000 £000 £000 £000
Not later than one year - 12 52 64
Current liability - 12 52 64
  
Later than one year and not later than five 
years 

- - - -

Later than five years - - - -
Non-current liability - - - -
Balance as at 31 March - 12 52 64
 
 
 

15. Capital commitments 

The Trust had no capital commitments at the reporting date (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

50 



Period ending 31 October 2014 | Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust 

16. Commitments under leases 

16a. Operating leases 
The Trust had no operating leases as at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil). 

16b. Finance leases 
The Trust had not entered into any finance leases as at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

17. Other financial commitments 

The Trust had no other financial commitments at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

18. Financial instruments 

As the cash requirements of the Trust are met through the estimates process, financial instruments play 
a more limited role in creating risk than would apply to a non-public sector body of a similar size. The 
majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Trust’s 
expected purchase and usage requirements as well as cash, receivables and payables. Therefore it is 
felt that the Trust is exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 
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19. Contingent liabilities 

On 31 March 2001 West Sussex Probation Committee (WSPC) amalgamated with the East Sussex 
Probation Committee (ESPC) to form Sussex Probation Board (SPB). As a result West Sussex 
Probation Board employees transferred their pension benefits to the East Sussex County Council 
(ESCC) Pension Scheme with effect from 31 March 2001. Under the Pension Regulations at the time 
liabilities attributable to active and deferred pensioner members remained with the Old Fund in West 
Sussex County Council (WSCC). 
 
Since 2001 Sussex Probation Board has ceased to contribute to the West Sussex Pension Scheme and 
during 2005 a bulk transfer of assets was made from the West Sussex Scheme to the East Sussex 
scheme. 
 
In 2009 the Government issued a consultation in respect of draft proposals to amend the Local 
Government (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 to comply with the Fair Deal for Staff Pensions for 
staff transferring from the Learning and Skills Council to Local Education Authorities on 1 April 2010, and 
to manage the transfer of assets and liabilities in administering authorities affected by the merger of 
Probation Boards to Probation Trusts. 
 
As a result of the above it is possible that Sussex Probation Board had an obligation arising from the 
amalgamation of West Sussex Probation Committee and East Sussex Probation Committee to form 
Sussex Probation Board in relation to the active and deferred pensioner members that remained with the 
Fund at West Sussex County Council. For the reason SSPT is disclosing this as a contingent liability. 
The amount of any liability is unknown. The liability transferred to NOMS on 31 October 2014. 
 
 
 

20. Losses and special payments 

 Period to 31 October 2014 31 March 2014 

Losses 
Number of 

cases
Total value 

£000
Number of 

cases 
Total value 

£000
Cash losses - - - -
Claims abandoned 1 - 32 5
Administrative write-offs 4 - 11 -
Total losses 5 - 43 5
  
  
Special payments - - - -
 
No individual loss or special payment in the period exceeded £300,000 (2013–14: £nil). 
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21. General fund 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014 
 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April (33,899) (27,960)
Prior period adjustment - -
Balance restated at 1 April (33,899) (27,960)
  
Financing - -
  
Net transfers from Operating Activities/Non Operating Activities:  
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 32,622 (1,450)
Re-measurement of post employment benefits 1,204 (4,489)
Transfer from revaluation reserve 73 -
  
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - (33,899)
 
 
 

22. Revaluation reserve 

22a. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
Period to 31 

October 2014 31 March 2014
 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April 73 72
Prior period adjustment - -
Balance restated at 1 April 73 72
  
Arising on revaluations of PPE during the year (net) - 1
Transfer to General Fund (73) -
  
Balance at 31 October / 31 March - 73
 
The revaluation reserve was transferred to the general fund as part of the absorption accounting 
transfers to NOMS. 

22b. Intangibles 
There was no revaluation reserve at 31 October 2014 or 31 March 2014. 
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23. Related party transactions 

NOMS, the Ministry of Justice and CRCs are regarded as related parties. During the year, the Trust had 
various material transactions with the Ministry of Justice, NOMS and CRCs. Additionally the Trust had 
transactions with other Trusts, other government bodies and third party organisations. 
 
In total, from the Ministry of Justice and its related parties, the Trust received £3,747,000 (2013–14: 
£25,568,000) of income and spent £9,000 (2013–14: £2,643,000) on service recharges. 
 
During the period, no former members of the Management Board, former members of key management 
staff or other related parties, or their related parties undertook material transactions with the Trust. 

Staff Mutual 
As noted above within the Management Commentary and the Governance Statement, SSPT 
management and staff members, together with Kent Probation Trust, have contributed to the 
development of a bid for the CRC, as a mutual to be called Co:here. Full details of the ‘ethical walls’ 
put in place to ensure there were no conflicts of interest are described in the Governance statement 
on page 19 of the Annual Report. 
 
The new mutual organisation was intended to be a member-owned, democratically controlled mutual 
organisation. It was committed to carrying on business for the public benefit, its assets would have been 
permanently locked into serving the public benefit, and any surpluses would have been re-invested to 
improve or expand the services. 
 
The mutual was bidding for the CRC at the prime level, as part of a consortium with A4e and Bridges 
Ventures. The consortium was bidding under the name of Chalk Ventures. The mutual, together with its 
joint venture business partners, decided to withdraw from the Transforming Rehabilitation competition 
and informed the Ministry of Justice on the 9th June 2014 of this decision. 
 
 
 

24. Third-party assets 

There are no third-party assets (2013–14: £nil). 
 
 
 

25. Events occurring after the reporting period 

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the 
date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit 
Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
 
As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred. 
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26. Transfers under absorption accounting 

A disaggregation exercise was carried out on the Trust’s SoFP as at 31 May 2014, which assigned 
the majority of balances to the CRC or NOMS. See Notes 1.3 and 1.20 for details of the rationale. 
In accordance with the FReM, such transfers were accounted for using the absorption method. 
 
Certain balances were retained in the Trust to be settled prior to dissolution. Any residual unsettled 
balances were transferred to NOMS or CRC prior to dissolution under absorption accounting. 
 
Under absorption accounting, balances are transferred at carrying value on the date of transfer. The total 
gain or loss on absorption, which reflects the net assets or liabilities being transferred, is recognised as a 
non-operating cost in the SoCNE. 
 
The total assets and liabilities transferred from the Trust to NOMS and the CRC during the period to 
31 October 2014 were: 
 

 
 Transfers to 

NOMS
Transfers to 

CRC  Total transfers
 Note £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment  8 (47) (106) (153)
Intangible assets 9 - - -
   
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables  (9) (9) (18)
Cash and cash equivalents 12 (1,330) - (1,330)
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  194 214 408
Provisions 14 12 - 12
Taxation payables  - - -
   
Non-current liabilities   
Pension liability 4 34,019 - 34,019
   
Total transfers  32,839 99 32,938
   
Net (gain)/loss on absorption SoCNE  (32,938)
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Accounts Direction 

ACCOUNTS OF LOCAL PROBATION TRUSTS IN ENGLAND AND WALES 
ACCOUNTS DIRECTION GIVEN BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
PARAGRAPHS 3(1)(a) AND 3(4)(a) OF THE OFFENDER MANAGEMENT ACT 2007 (DISSOLUTION 
OF PROBATION TRUSTS) ORDER 2014 
 
1. This direction applies to the Local Probation Trusts (the Trusts) listed in the attached Appendix 1. 
 
2. Each Trust shall prepare a statement of accounts for the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 October 

2014, in compliance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the 2014–15 
Government Financial reporting Manual (“the FReM”) issued by HM Treasury. 

 
3. The accounts shall be prepared so as to: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust as at the financial year-end and of the 
comprehensive net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the reporting 
period and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007; 

 provide disclosure of any material expenditure or income that has not been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament or material transactions that have not conformed to the 
authorities which govern them; 

 be on a basis other than that of a going concern. 
 
4. Compliance with the requirements of the FReM will, in all but exceptional circumstances, be 

necessary for the accounts to give a true and fair view. If, in these exceptional circumstances, 
compliance with the requirements of the FReM is inconsistent with the requirement to give a true and 
fair view, the requirements of the FReM should be departed from only to the extent necessary to give 
a true and fair view. In such cases, informed and unbiased judgement should be used to devise an 
appropriate alternative treatment which should be consistent with both the economic characteristics 
of the circumstances concerned and the spirit of the FReM. Any material departure from the FReM 
should be discussed in the first instance with NOMS Agency finance team and HM Treasury. 

 
5. Additionally the Trusts shall be required to comply with all Probation Communication Notices to the 

extent that they build on the requirement of the FReM subject to the directions in paragraph 4. 
 
6. This direction supersedes that provided by the Secretary of State to Probation Trusts dated 

18 February 2014. 
 
 

 
 
On behalf of the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Justice 
21 October 2014 
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Appendix 1 

35 Probation Trusts: 
 
Avon and Somerset 
Bedfordshire 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Cheshire 
Cumbria 
Derbyshire 
Devon and Cornwall 
Dorset 
Durham Tees Valley 
Essex 
Gloucestershire 
Greater Manchester 
Hampshire 
Hertfordshire 
Humberside 
Kent 
Lancashire 
Leicestershire and Rutland 
Lincolnshire 
London 
Merseyside 
Norfolk and Suffolk 
Northamptonshire 
Northumbria 
Nottinghamshire 
South Yorkshire 
Staffordshire and West Midlands 
Surrey and Sussex 
Thames Valley 
Wales 
Warwickshire 
West Mercia 
West Yorkshire 
Wiltshire 
York and North Yorkshire 
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Glossary 

ATR Alcohol Treatment Requirement 
CE Chief Executive 
CETV Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
CP Community Punishment/Payback 
CRC  Community Rehabilitation Company 
DRR Drug Rehabilitation Requirement 
DTTO Drug Treatment & Testing Order 
ESCC East Sussex County Council 
EU European Union 
FReM Government Financial Reporting Manual 
GMPF Greater Manchester Pension Fund 
HMT Her Majesty’s Treasury 
HR Human Resources 
IAS International Accounting Standard 
IASB International Accounting Standards Board 
ICO Information Commissioner’s Office 
ICT Information and Communications Technology 
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 
IiP Investors in People 
LDU Local Delivery Unit 
LGPS Local Government Pension Scheme 
MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
MoJ Ministry of Justice 
NAPO National Association Of Probation Officers 
NDPB Non Departmental Public Body 
NHS National Health Service 
NOMS National Offender Management Service 
nDelius National Offender Case Management System 
OASys Offender Assessment System 
OM Offender Management 
OM Act Offender Management Act 2007 
OMI Offender Management Inspection 
PAO Principal Accountable Officer 
PO Probation Officer 
PPDU Public Protection Delivery Unit 
PPO Prolific and Priority Offender 
PPR Public Protection Register 
PQF Probation Qualification Framework 
PSR Pre-Sentence Report 
PSO Probation Service Officer 
SoCNE Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
SoFP Statement of Financial Position 
SSPT Surrey and Sussex Probation Trust 
TR Transforming Rehabilitation 
UNISON The Public Service Union 
UPW (UW) Unpaid Work 
VAT Value added tax 
WSCC West Sussex County Council 
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